SUM-100

SUMMONS (SOLO PARA USO DE LA CORTE)
(CITACION JUDICIAL)
NOTICE TO DEFENDANT: ELECTRONICALLY FILED
(AVISO AL DEMANDADO): Superior Court of California,
MORAD MARCO GARMO County of San Diega
[See attachment SUM-200 for additional parties] 07/06/2021 at 09:25:22 Al
Clerk of the Superior Court

YOU ARE BEING SUED BY PLAINTIFF: By Carolina hiranda Deputy Clerk

(LO ESTA DEMANDANDO EL DEMANDANTE):
VALLEY GREENS RETAIL OUTLET, INC.

NOTICE! You have been sued. The court may decide against you without your being heard unless you respond within 30 days. Read the information
below.

You have 30 CALENDAR DAYS after this summons and legal papers are served on you to file a written response at this court and have a copy
served on the plaintiff. A letter or phone call will not protect you. Your written response must be in proper legal form if you want the court to hear your
case. There may be a court form that you can use for your response. You can find these court forms and more information at the California Courts
Online Self-Help Center (www.courtinfo.ca.gov/selfhelp), your county law library, or the courthouse nearest you. If you cannot pay the filing fee, ask
the court clerk for a fee waiver form. If you do not file your response on time, you may lose the case by default, and your wages, money, and property
may be taken without further warning from the court.

There are other legal requirements. You may want to call an attorney right away. If you do not know an attorney, you may want to call an attorney
referral service. If you cannot afford an attorney, you may be eligible for free legal services from a nonprofit legal services program. You can locate
these nonprofit groups at the California Legal Services Web site (www./lawhelpcalifornia.org), the California Courts Online Self-Help Center
(www.courtinfo.ca.gov/selfhelp), or by contacting your local court or county bar association. NOTE: The court has a statutory lien for waived fees and
costs on any settlement or arbitration award of $10,000 or more in a civil case. The court's lien must be paid before the court will dismiss the case.
jAVISO! Lo han demandado. Si no responde dentro de 30 dias, la corte puede decidir en su contra sin escuchar su version. Lea la informacién a
continuacion.

Tiene 30 DIAS DE CALENDARIO después de que le entreguen esta citacion y papeles legales para presentar una respuesta por escrito en esta
corte y hacer que se entregue una copia al demandante. Una carta o una llamada telefénica no lo protegen. Su respuesta por escrito tiene que estar
en formato legal correcto si desea que procesen su caso en la corte. Es posible que haya un formulario que usted pueda usar para su respuesta.
Puede encontrar estos formularios de la corte y mas informacién en el Centro de Ayuda de las Cortes de California (www.sucorte.ca.gov), en la
biblioteca de leyes de su condado o en la corte que le quede mas cerca. Si no puede pagar la cuota de presentacion, pida al secretario de la corte
que le dé un formulario de exencién de pago de cuotas. Si no presenta su respuesta a tiempo, puede perder el caso por incumplimiento y la corte le
podra quitar su sueldo, dinero y bienes sin mas advertencia.

Hay otros requisitos legales. Es recomendable que llame a un abogado inmediatamente. Si no conoce a un abogado, puede llamar a un servicio de
remisién a abogados. Si no puede pagar a un abogado, es posible que cumpla con los requisitos para obtener servicios legales gratuitos de un
programa de servicios legales sin fines de lucro. Puede encontrar estos grupos sin fines de lucro en el sitio web de California Legal Services,
(www.lawhelpcalifornia.org), en el Centro de Ayuda de las Cortes de California, (www.sucorte.ca.gov) o poniéndose en contacto con la corte o el
colegio de abogados locales. AVISO: Por ley, la corte tiene derecho a reclamar las cuotas y los costos exentos por imponer un gravamen sobre
cualquier recuperacion de $10,000 6 mas de valor recibida mediante un acuerdo o una concesion de arbitraje en un caso de derecho civil. Tiene que
pagar el gravamen de la corte antes de que la corte pueda desechar el caso.

The name and address of the court is: . . CASE NUMBER:
(El nombre y direccion de la corte es): San Diego County Superior Court (Numero del Caso): 37 3031-00028421- CL-RI-CTL
330 West Broadway

San Diego, CA 92101

The name, address, and telephone number of plaintiff's attorney, or plaintiff without an attorney, is:
(El nombre, la direccién y el nimero de teléfono del abogado del demandante, o del demandante que no tiene abogado, es):

Briggs Law Corporation, Cory J. Briggs, 99 East "C" Street, Suite 111, Upland, CA 91786, 909-949-7115

DATE: ~ HAAFAz02 Clerk, by , Deputy
(Fecha) (Secretario) (Adjunto)
(For proof of service of this summons, use Proof of Service of Summons (form POS-010).)
(Para prueba de entrega de esta citation use el formulario Proof of Service of Summons, (POS-010)).
NOTICE TO THE PERSON SERVED: You are served
ﬂ.-.':;f.':::'--.,.‘ 1. [__] as an individual defendant.
.-___.-"':_:‘3".-"-:"" ﬁ--.fﬁiq{{ﬁ"-.ﬂ\ 2. [] asthe person sued under the fictitious name of (specify):
F ol &
;.\: %"- ! foy ‘1L ;.IIIL
o V.0 s 1 on behalf of (specify):
[ '| L3l 1
ot d | under: L] CCP 416.10 (corporation) [] CCP 416.60 (minor)
I"'!;_- A 1 cCP 416.20 (defunct corporation) [] CCP416.70 (conservatee)
: .3;1::;':‘,{;_..::!}'1'5 [ ] CCP 416.40 (association or partnership) [ | CCP 416.90 (authorized person)
#, . ¥
"""f-ff,‘:‘_f ?i“:','u"“" [ 1 other (specify):
4. ] by personal delivery on (date):
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SUM-200(A)

SHORT TITLE: CASE NUMBER:
Valley Greens Retail Outlet, Inc. v. Morad Marco Garmo et al.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE

-+ This form may be used as an attachment to any summons if space does not permit the listing of all parties on the summons.

& If this attachment is used, insert the following statement in the plaintiff or defendant box on the summons: "Additional Parties
Attachment form is attached.”

List additional parties (Check only one box. Use a separate page for each type of party.):
[ ] Plaintiff Defendant  [_| Cross-Complainant [ | Cross-Defendant

AUGUST R. SCALZITTI IIT; SDCA RENTALS, LLC; HANSEN FAMILY TRUST OF 2006; JOHN T.
HANSEN; SDREADER, INC.; HIKMAT ZOURA; DANNY KHAIRO; and DOES 1 through 1,000,
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Form Adopted for Mandatory Use

Judicial Council of California ADDITIONAL PARTIES ATTACHMENT
SUM-200(A) [Rev. January 1, 2007] Attachment to Summons

American LegalNet, Inc.
www.FormsWorkflow.com
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BRIGGS LAW CORPORATION [riLe: 2061.00] ELECTRONICALLY FILED

Cory J. Briggs (SBN 176284) Superior Court of California,
Janna M. Ferraro (SBN 328921) County of 3an Diego

99 East “C” Street, Suite 111 OT/06/2021 st 00:26-72 A
Upland, CA 91786 Sl ot e Sy
Telephone: 909-949-7115 erk of the supenor Lourt

By Carolina Miranda,Deputy Clerk
Attorneys for Plaintiff Valley Greens Retail Outlet, Inc.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO CENTRAL DIVISION

37-2021-00028821-CU-RI-CTL

VALLEY GREENS RETAIL OUTLET, INC., CASENO.

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND
EQUITABLE RELIEF BASED ON
RACKETEERING, UNFAIR BUSINESS
PRACTICES, AND FALSE
ADVERTISING

Plaintiff,
VS.

MORAD MARCO GARMO; AUGUST R.
SCALZITTIII; SDCA RENTALS, LLC; HANSEN
FAMILY TRUST OF 2006; JOHN T. HANSEN;
SDREADER, INC.; HIKMAT ZOURA; DANNY
KHAIRO; and DOES 1 through 1,000,

N N’ N N N N N N N N N N N’

Defendants.

Plaintiff VALLEY GREENS RETAIL OUTLET, INC. (“PLAINTIFF”), alleges as follows:
Parties

1. PLAINTIFF is a corporation formed and operating under the laws of the State of
California; does business in the County of San Diego under a fictitious business name, “March and
Ash”; and operates a retail cannabis business pursuant to California Bureau of Cannabis Control
(“CBCC”) license no. C10-0000076-LIC.

2. PLAINTIFF is informed and believes and on that basis alleges as follows:

A. Defendants MORAD MARCO GARMO (“MARCO”),AUGUST R. SCALZITTI

I (“ARS”), JOHN T. HANSEN (“JTH”), HIKMAT ZOURA (“HZ”),and DANNY KHAIRO (“DK”)

is each a natural person who resides in the County of San Diego.
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B. Defendant SDCA RENTALS, LLC (“SDCA”), is a limited liability company
formed and operating under the laws of the State of California.

C. Defendant HANSEN FAMILY TRUST OF 2006 (“HFT”) is an entity of
unknown origin.

D. Defendant SDREADER, INC. (“READER”) is a corporation formed and
operating under the laws of the State of California; does business in the County of San Diego under a
fictitious business name, “San Diego Reader”; and distributes a weekly publication known as San Diego
Reader.

3. The true names and capacities of the Defendants identified as DOES 1 through 1,000
are unknown to PLAINTIFF, who will seek the Court’s permission to amend this pleading in order to
allege the true names and capacities as soon as they are ascertained. PLAINTIFF is informed and
believes and on that basis alleges that each of the fictitiously named Defendants encouraged,
participated in, distributed, or was otherwise involved in the wrongdoing that is the subject of this
lawsuit.

4. PLAINTIFF is informed and believes and on that basis alleges that, at all times stated
in this pleading, each Defendant was the agent, servant, or employee of every other Defendant and was,
in doing the things alleged in this pleading, acting within the scope of said agency, servitude, or
employment and with the full knowledge or subsequent ratification of his/her/its principals, masters,
and employers.

Venue

5. Venue in this Court is proper because the obligations, liabilities, and violations of law

alleged in this pleading occurred in San Diego County in the State of California.
Background

6. PLAINTIFF began selling cannabis and cannabis-related products on a retail basis in
June 2018, and at all times PLAINTIFF’s sales and advertising have been lawful. However,
PLAINTIFF faces a substantial amount of competition from illegal cannabis dispensaries (the
“Dispensary Defendants”) engaged in both intra-state and inter-state cannabis sales without having first

obtained the requisite license from the CBCC and the requisite approvals from local jurisdictions with

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITABLE RELIEF ETC. Page 2
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regulatory authority over cannabis dispensaries and/or sales. The Dispensary Defendants have been
aided and abetted by participants in three related sectors: (i) landlords who rent premises to the
unlicensed dispensaries (the “Landlord Defendants”); (ii) publishers who allow the Dispensary
Defendants to place advertisements for unlicensed dispensaries in their publications and accept payment
therefor using money known to have been generated by illegal sales (the “Advertiser Defendants”); (iif)
owners and/or operators of ATM machines that are placed in unlicensed dispensaries for use by their
customers but registered to legitimate businesses located elsewhere, with the monies “laundered” by
being deposited into bank accounts controlled by the legitimate businesses (the “Money-Laundering
Defendants™); (iv) manufacturers of consumable cannabis products that are sold at unlicensed
dispensaries and generate extraordinarily large profits because of inferior, low-cost ingredients (the
“Manufacturing Defendants™); and (v) law-enforcement officials and their associates who provided
and/or provide the unlicensed dispensaries with advance notice of raids and with other forms of
protection from the enforcement of laws prohibiting the unlicensed sale of cannabis (the “Law-
Enforcement Defendants”).!

7. On or about September 15, 2020, the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern
District of California issued a press release that began as follows: “Former San Diego County Sheriff’s
Captain Marco Garmo pleaded guilty in federal court today to illegally trafficking in firearms from his
office in the Rancho San Diego Station and committing other corrupt acts spanning close to a quarter
of his 27 years in the department. [] As part of his plea, Garmo also admitted that he tipped off a
marijuana dispensary that was about to be searched by Sheriff’s officials part-owned by his cousin

and pressured another illegal dispensary to hire his friend and co-defendant Waiel Anton as a
‘consultant,” along with another individual who had agreed to pay Garmo a kickback.” A true and
correct copy of the press release is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. PLAINTIFF is informed and believes
and on that basis alleges that the factual statements in the press release are true and thus incorporates

them into this pleading by reference.

' PLAINTIFF’s use of the five classifications of the Defendants is not intended to imply that none of
the Defendants meets the criteria for a different classification (or that there are no undiscovered
classifications). After a reasonable opportunity to conduct discovery, PLAINTIFF may learn, for
example, that a Law-Enforcement Defendant should also be classified as one of the Dispensary
Defendants or that a Dispensary Defendant should also be classified as one of the Landlord Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITABLE RELIEF ETC. Page 3
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8. Also on or about September 15, 2020, MARCO executed a plea agreement in the
criminal proceeding commonly known as United States of America v. Morad Marco Garmo, U.S.
District Court (S.D. Cal.) case no. 19-cr-4768GPC. In the “Factual Basis” portion of the plea
agreement, MARCO stated as follows: “Defendant also abused his position by disclosing confidential
law enforcement information. On July 10, 2018, Defendant called his cousin (‘Individual 4’) and tipped
him off that Campo Greens (an illegal marijuana dispensary in Defendant’s area of responsibility at
SDCSD [i.e., the San Diego County Sheriff’s Department]) was scheduled to be searched by SDCSD
personnel the following morning. Defendant did this to warn his other cousin (‘Individual 3”), who was
also Individual 4’s brother, and who had an ownership interest in Campo Greens, as Defendant knew.
On July 11, 2018, Defendant called Individual 4 to notify him that the scheduled search of Campo
Greens had been canceled. [q] Defendant admits that he provided this information to Individual 3 for the
purpose of helping Campo Greens (and Individual 4) evade law enforcement officers and avoid the seizure
of the illegal dispensary’s narcotics and proceeds. [q] Defendant further abused his position by seeking
to profit from a condemned property used as an unlicensed marijuana dispensary. Between May 2018
and August 2018, Defendant recommended that Individual 6 (the landlord for an unlicensed marijuana
dispensary that was condemned by San Diego County following an SDCSD search) hire Anton [i.e.,
ANTON] and Individual 5 (then a San Diego County employee) as ‘consultants’ to help get Individual
6’s property reopened. Under the plan, Anton would pretend to rent Individual 6’s property, and
Individual 5 would facilitate the property’s reopening with the County. In exchange for recommending
Individual 5 as a ‘consultant’ to Individual 6, Defendant was to receive 10% of Individual 5°s fee. When
Individual 6 declined to hire Anton and Individual 5, Defendant told Individual 5 (who was still
employed at the County at the time) to tell the County to ‘piss on’ Individual 6. [§] During the
investigation of this conduct, Defendant obstructed justice by making material false statements to agents
of the FBI and ATF concerning matters within their jurisdiction. Specifically, Defendant falsely denied
making straw purchases, and falsely claimed he would not put his deputies in harm’s way by notifying
the subjects of an impending search warrant. Defendant also falsely denied receiving any money from
Anton after the sale of a Ruger handgun to Anton in January 2019, which he knew was a false statement

because Defendant had received $100 from Anton on or after February 5, 2019 as described above.

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITABLE RELIEF ETC. Page 4
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Defendant knew that it was unlawful to make such false statements.” With respect to the “Factual
Basis,” MARCO signed the plea agreement under penalty of perjury. A true and correct copy of the plea
agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. PLAINTIFF is informed and believes and on that basis
alleges that all statements in the “Factual Basis” in the plea agreement (not just those quoted above) are
true and thus incorporates them into this pleading by reference.

0. PLAINTIFF is informed and believes and on that basis alleges as follows:

A. Each of the Dispensary Defendants owns and/or operates at least one dispensary
that sells cannabis and cannabis-related products to the public through intra-state and inter-state
commerce and/or communications with customers, suppliers, and/or employees over interstate
telecommunications infrastructure but without having first obtained the requisite legal authorization to
do so. By way of example and not limitation:

1. For a substantial period of time since June 2018, one or more of the
Dispensary Defendants have operated at least one unlicensed cannabis dispensary in San Diego County,
without a license issued by the CBCC. One such unlicensed dispensary used to be known as “Campo
Greens” but has since changed its name to and currently advertises itself as “Valley Greens.”

ii. One or more of the Dispensary Defendants were described in MARCO’s
plea agreement as Individuals 3 and 4.

iil. At all times since June 27, 2017, Health and Safety Code Section
11360(a) has provided as follows: “Except as otherwise provided by this section or as authorized by
law, every person who transports, imports into this state, sells, furnishes, administers, or gives away,
or offers to transport, import into this state, sell, furnish, administer, or give away, or attempts to import
into this state or transport any cannabis shall be punished as follows: (1) Persons under the age of 18
years shall be punished in the same manner as provided in paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section
11357. (2) Persons 18 years of age or over shall be punished by imprisonment in a county jail for a
period of not more than six months or by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars ($500), or by both
such fine and imprisonment. (3) Notwithstanding paragraph (2), a person 18 years of age or over may
be punished by imprisonment pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170 of the Penal Code for a period

of two, three, or four years if: (A) The person has one or more prior convictions for an offense specified

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITABLE RELIEF ETC. Page 5
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in clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667 of the Penal Code
or for an offense requiring registration pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 290 of the Penal Code;
(B) The person has two or more prior convictions under paragraph (2); (C) The offense involved the
knowing sale, attempted sale, or the knowing offer to sell, furnish, administer, or give away cannabis
to a person under the age of 18 years; or (D) The offense involved the import, offer to import, or
attempted import into this state, or the transport for sale, offer to transport for sale, or attempted
transport for sale out of this state, of more than 28.5 grams of cannabis or more than four grams of
concentrated cannabis.”

iv. Atall times since June 27, 2017, Business and Professions Code Section
26051(a) has provided as follows: “The Cartwright Act, the Unfair Practices Act, the Unfair
Competition Law, and the other provisions of Part 2 (commencing with Section 16600) of Division 7
apply to all licensees regulated under this division.”

B. Each of the Landlord Defendants owns and/or operates at least one parcel of real
property in San Diego County that is rented to one or more of the Dispensary Defendants and used as
an illegal cannabis dispensary that is engaged in intra-state and inter-state commerce and/or
communications with customers, suppliers, and/or employees over interstate telecommunications
infrastructure. By way of example and not limitation:

1. SDCA owns the real property commonly known as 9960 Campo Road
in the Spring Valley community of San Diego County and rents at least a portion of the property to the
owners and/or operators of the unlicensed dispensary known as Valley Greens. The CBCC’s search
engine does not show any records of a license issued to any owner or operator with a street address
bearing the number 9960. Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of the search engine’s
results when queried for a licensee having that street number.

ii. ARS owns the real property commonly known as 10537 Campo Road in
the Spring Valley community of San Diego County and rents at least a portion of the property to the
owners and/or operators of the unlicensed dispensary known as Highway 94 Medical Dispensary. The

CBCC'’s search engine does not show any records of a license issued to any owner or operator with a

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITABLE RELIEF ETC. Page 6
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street address bearing the number 10537. Attached hereto as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of the
search engine’s results when queried for a licensee having that street number.

iii. JTH, HFT, or both of them own the real property commonly known as
14315 Olde Highway 80 in the El Cajon community of San Diego County and rent, on a for-profit basis,
at least a portion of the property to the owners and/or operators of the unlicensed dispensary known as
Grabud. The CBCC’s search engine does not show any records of a license issued to any owner or
operator with a street address bearing the number 14315. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a true and
correct copy of the search engine’s results when queried for a licensee having that street number.

v. The CBCC’s search engine does not show any records of a license issued
to any owner or operator in the 91978 ZIP-code area. Attached hereto as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct
copy of the search engine’s results when queried for a licensee in that ZIP-code area.

V. The CBCC’s search engine does not show any records of a license issued
to any owner or operator in the 92021 ZIP-code area. Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct
copy of the search engine’s results when queried for a licensee in that ZIP-code area.

C. Each of the Advertiser Defendants owns and/or operates at least one publication
that, on a for-profit basis, distributes over interstate telecommunications infrastructure advertisements
paid for by one or more of the Dispensary Defendants for the purpose of promoting an illegal cannabis
dispensary. By way of example and not limitation:

1. Each week since at least July 2019, the San Diego Reader has included
advertisements for cannabis dispensaries in its weekly publication.

ii. Not every advertisement for a cannabis dispensary that is published in the
San Diego Reader includes the number of the CBCC license issued to the dispensary. For example,
multiple weeks’ issues of the publication issued in 2021 alone have included advertisements for
cannabis dispensaries but only one of them PLAINTIFF’s advertisement included the dispensary’s
license number. Attached hereto as Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of some of the advertisements
that the San Diego Reader has published so far in 2021.

iii. Not every advertisement for a cannabis dispensary that is published in the

San Diego Reader is for a CBCC-licensed dispensary. For example, multiple weeks’ issues of the

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITABLE RELIEF ETC. Page 7
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publication issued in 2021 alone have included advertisements for cannabis dispensaries that do not
have a license. See Exhibit 8 hereto.

iv. READER has been notified that PLAINTIFF objects to the San Diego
Reader’s illegal advertisements for cannabis-related businesses. For example, within the last 12
months, one of PLAINTIFF’s representatives visited READER’s business office, pointed out that many
of the published advertisements are illegal, and asked READER to stop publishing them. Despite that
request, READER continues to publish illegal advertisements.

V. Atall times since June 27, 2017, Business and Professions Code Section
26150(b) has provided as follows: “‘Advertisement’ includes any written or verbal statement,
illustration, or depiction which is calculated to induce sales of cannabis or cannabis products, including
any written, printed, graphic, or other material, billboard, sign, or other outdoor display, public transit
card, other periodical literature, publication, or in a radio or television broadcast, or in any other media;
except that such term shall not include: (1) Any label affixed to any cannabis or cannabis products, or
any individual covering, carton, or other wrapper of that container that constitutes a part of the labeling
under provisions of this division. (2) Any editorial or other reading material, such as a news release, in
any periodical or publication or newspaper for the publication of which no money or valuable
consideration is paid or promised, directly or indirectly, by any licensee, and which is not written by or
at the direction of the licensee.”

Vi. Atall times since June 27, 2017, Business and Professions Code Section
26151(a)(1) has provided as follows: “All advertisements and marketing shall accurately and legibly
identify the licensee responsible for its content, by adding, at a minimum, the licensee’s license
number.”

D. Each of the Money-Laundering Defendants has installed at least one ATM
machine in an unlicensed dispensary operated by one or more of the Dispensary Defendants, with the
machine using interstate telecommunications infrastructure to record the transactions processed by the
machine. By way of example and not limitation:

1. HZ, DK, or both own, operates, and/or otherwise control an ATM

machine installed at an unlicensed dispensary located at 9960 Campo Road in the Spring Valley

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITABLE RELIEF ETC. Page 8
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community of San Diego County; and an ATM machine installed at another unlicensed dispensary
located at 10537 Campo Road in the Spring Valley community of San Diego County.

1i. HZ, DK, or both own, operate, or otherwise control lawful liquor-store
and/or convenience-store businesses known as “Third Avenue Mini Mart,” “Ernie’s Liquor,” “Alta
Dena Drive Thru Market,” “Clairemont Liquor,” and/or “Anchor Liquor”; and use one or more of the
bank accounts of those lawful businesses to launder the proceeds from the illegal sales that take place
at the unlicensed dispensaries.

iii. HZ, DK, or both keep a portion of the proceeds from the illegal sales as
profits, or receive some other valuable consideration, in exchange for providing the ATM machines.

E. Each of the Manufacturing Defendants sells consumable cannabis products at one
or more unlicensed dispensaries. By way of example and not limitation:

1. The manufacturer of Dabzilla Sour Bears sells its products to one or more
of the Dispensary Defendants, for resale to consumers.

ii. The manufacturer of Green Magic Delights sells its products to one or
more of the Dispensary Defendants, for resale to consumers.

F. Each ofthe Law-Enforcement Defendants was or is employed by a public agency
that is responsible for enforcing criminal laws that prohibit the operation of an unlicensed cannabis
dispensary but, in exchange for kickbacks and/or other valuable consideration (that is, above their
public-agency compensation) provided by the Dispensary Defendants, Landlord Defendants, and/or
Money-Laundering Defendants, has affirmatively aided and abetted those owners and/or operators so
that they would not be caught in the act of and prosecuted for breaking those laws. By way of example
and not limitation:

1. MARCO used to be employed by the San Diego County Sheriff’s
Department (“SDCSD”). In that role, he supervised the Department’s law-enforcement activities in the
geographic portion of the County where the vast majority of illegal cannabis dispensaries operate,
including the execution of search warrants on suspected unlicensed dispensaries. Prior to the execution
of a search warrant on an unlicensed dispensary known as Campo Greens, which at the time was owned

and/or operated by one or more of the Dispensary Defendants, MARCO notified one of them that the
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execution of a search warrant on the dispensary’s premises was imminent. MARCO also notified one
or more of the Dispensary Defendants that the search warrant’s execution had been canceled.

ii. MARCO was not acting alone in aiding and abetting the Dispensary
Defendants and Landlord Defendants before he was arrested by federal authorities.

iii. Even after MARCO was arrested by federal authorities and ceased to be
employed by SDCSD, other Defendants continued to aid and abet the Dispensary Defendants, Landlord
Defendants, and/or Money-Laundering Defendants.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION:

Violations of Anti-Racketeering Law, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 ef seq.
(Against All Defendants)

10. The preceding allegations in this pleading are fully incorporated into this paragraph.

11. At all times relevant to this lawsuit, Section 1961 of Title 18 of the United States Code
(“Section 1961”) has provided in pertinent part as follows: “As used in this chapter--(1) “racketeering
activity” means (A) any act or threat involving murder, kidnapping, gambling, arson, robbery, bribery,
extortion, dealing in obscene matter, or dealing in a controlled substance or listed chemical (as defined
in section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act), which is chargeable under State law and punishable
by imprisonment for more than one year; (B) any act which is indictable under any of the following
provisions of title 18, United States Code: Section 201 (relating to bribery), section 224 (relating to
sports bribery), sections 471, 472, and 473 (relating to counterfeiting), section 659 (relating to theft
from interstate shipment) if the act indictable under section 659 is felonious, section 664 (relating to
embezzlement from pension and welfare funds), sections 891-894 (relating to extortionate credit
transactions), section 1028 (relating to fraud and related activity in connection with identification
documents), section 1029 (relating to fraud and related activity in connection with access devices),
section 1084 (relating to the transmission of gambling information), section 1341 (relating to mail
fraud), section 1343 (relating to wire fraud), section 1344 (relating to financial institution fraud), section
1351 (relating to fraud in foreign labor contracting), section 1425 (relating to the procurement of
citizenship or nationalization unlawfully), section 1426 (relating to the reproduction of naturalization
or citizenship papers), section 1427 (relating to the sale of naturalization or citizenship papers), sections

1461-1465 (relating to obscene matter), section 1503 (relating to obstruction of justice), section 1510
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(relating to obstruction of criminal investigations), section 1511 (relating to the obstruction of State or
local law enforcement), section 1512 (relating to tampering with a witness, victim, or an informant),
section 1513 (relating to retaliating against a witness, victim, or an informant), section 1542 (relating
to false statement in application and use of passport), section 1543 (relating to forgery or false use of
passport), section 1544 (relating to misuse of passport), section 1546 (relating to fraud and misuse of
visas, permits, and other documents), sections 1581-1592 (relating to peonage, slavery, and trafficking
in persons).,1 sections 1831 and 1832 (relating to economic espionage and theft of trade secrets),
section 1951 (relating to interference with commerce, robbery, or extortion), section 1952 (relating to
racketeering), section 1953 (relating to interstate transportation of wagering paraphernalia), section
1954 (relating to unlawful welfare fund payments), section 1955 (relating to the prohibition of illegal
gambling businesses), section 1956 (relating to the laundering of monetary instruments), section 1957
(relating to engaging in monetary transactions in property derived from specified unlawful activity),
section 1958 (relating to use of interstate commerce facilities in the commission of murder-for-hire),
section 1960 (relating to illegal money transmitters), sections 2251, 2251A, 2252, and 2260 (relating
to sexual exploitation of children), sections 2312 and 2313 (relating to interstate transportation of stolen
motor vehicles), sections 2314 and 2315 (relating to interstate transportation of stolen property), section
2318 (relating to trafficking in counterfeit labels for phonorecords, computer programs or computer
program documentation or packaging and copies of motion pictures or other audiovisual works), section
2319 (relating to criminal infringement of a copyright), section 23 19A (relating to unauthorized fixation
of and trafficking in sound recordings and music videos of live musical performances), section 2320
(relating to trafficking in goods or services bearing counterfeit marks), section 2321 (relating to
trafficking in certain motor vehicles or motor vehicle parts), sections 2341-2346 (relating to trafficking
in contraband cigarettes), sections 2421-24 (relating to white slave traffic), sections 175-178 (relating
to biological weapons), sections 229-229F (relating to chemical weapons), section 831 (relating to
nuclear materials), (C) any act which is indictable under title 29, United States Code, section 186
(dealing with restrictions on payments and loans to labor organizations) or section 501(c) (relating to
embezzlement from union funds), (D) any offense involving fraud connected with a case under title 11

(except a case under section 157 of this title), fraud in the sale of securities, or the felonious
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manufacture, importation, receiving, concealment, buying, selling, or otherwise dealing in a controlled
substance or listed chemical (as defined in section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act), punishable
under any law of the United States, (E) any act which is indictable under the Currency and Foreign
Transactions Reporting Act, (F) any act which is indictable under the Immigration and Nationality Act,
section 274 (relating to bringing in and harboring certain aliens), section 277 (relating to aiding or
assisting certain aliens to enter the United States), or section 278 (relating to importation of alien for
immoral purpose) if the act indictable under such section of such Act was committed for the purpose
of financial gain, or (G) any act that is indictable under any provision listed in section 2332b(g)(5)(B);
(2) “State” means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto
Rico, any territory or possession of the United States, any political subdivision, or any department,
agency, or instrumentality thereof; (3) “person” includes any individual or entity capable of holding a
legal or beneficial interest in property; (4) “enterprise” includes any individual, partnership, corporation,
association, or other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not
a legal entity; [and] (5) “pattern of racketeering activity” requires at least two acts of racketeering
activity, one of which occurred after the effective date of this chapter and the last of which occurred
within ten years (excluding any period of imprisonment) after the commission of a prior act of
racketeering activity. * * *”

12. At all times relevant to this lawsuit, Section 1962 of Title 18 of the United States Code
(“Section 1962”) has provided as follows: “(a) It shall be unlawful for any person who has received any
income derived, directly or indirectly, from a pattern of racketeering activity or through collection of
an unlawful debt in which such person has participated as a principal within the meaning of section 2,
title 18, United States Code, to use or invest, directly or indirectly, any part of such income, or the
proceeds of such income, in acquisition of any interest in, or the establishment or operation of, any
enterprise which is engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce. A
purchase of securities on the open market for purposes of investment, and without the intention of
controlling or participating in the control of the issuer, or of assisting another to do so, shall not be
unlawful under this subsection if the securities of the issuer held by the purchaser, the members of his

immediate family, and his or their accomplices in any pattern or racketeering activity or the collection
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of an unlawful debt after such purchase do not amount in the aggregate to one percent of the outstanding
securities of any one class, and do not confer, either in law or in fact, the power to elect one or more
directors of the issuer. (b) It shall be unlawful for any person through a pattern of racketeering activity
or through collection of an unlawful debt to acquire or maintain, directly or indirectly, any interest in
or control of any enterprise which is engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign
commerce. (c) It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise
engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate,
directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity
or collection of unlawful debt. (d) It shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to violate any of the
provisions of subsection (a), (b), or (¢) of this section.”

13. At all times relevant to this lawsuit, Section 1964(c) of Title 18 of the United States
Code (“Section 1964(c)”) has provided as follows: “Any person injured in his business or property by
reason of a violation of section 1962 of this chapter may sue therefor in any appropriate United States
district court and shall recover threefold the damages he sustains and the cost of the suit, including a
reasonable attorney's fee, except that no person may rely upon any conduct that would have been
actionable as fraud in the purchase or sale of securities to establish a violation of section 1962. The
exception contained in the preceding sentence does not apply to an action against any person that is
criminally convicted in connection with the fraud, in which case the statute of limitations shall start to
run on the date on which the conviction becomes final.”

14.  Plaintiff is informed and believes and on that basis alleges as follows:

A. Within the last four years, the racketeering enterprise being challenged in this
lawsuit has worked as follows for the collective purpose of profiting off the unlicensed sale of cannabis:
(7) the Dispensary Defendants operate in San Diego County without any land-use or other legal
authorization to sell cannabis and cannabis-related products; (i7) the Landlord Defendants knowingly
and continuously rent office, retail, and other premises to the Dispensary Defendants, usually at rental

rates that greatly exceed the fair-market value of the premises and based on other deviations from the

* See also Tafflin v. Levitt, 493 U.S. 455, 460 (1990) (“Because we find none of these factors present
with respect to civil claims arising under RICO [to divest state courts of jurisdiction], we hold that state
courts retain their presumptive authority to adjudicate such claims.”); Cianci v. Superior Ct., 40 Cal.3d
903 (1985) (““Although the question is not without difficulty, we conclude for the reasons given below
that state courts have concurrent jurisdiction over RICO claims.”).
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Landlord Defendants’ normal leasing policies and practices, and knowing that the Dispensary
Defendants do not have the requisite government authorization to operate lawfully at the premises; (ii7)
the Advertiser Defendants knowingly and continuously publish the Dispensary Defendants’
advertisements both in print and online through interstate telecommunications infrastructure without
requiring them to contain a license number from the CBCC, usually at advertising rates that greatly
exceed the Advertiser Defendants’ rates for non-cannabis advertisements and with full knowledge that
state law requires every cannabis-related advertisements to contain the dispensary’s license number; (iv)
the Money-Laundering Defendants “launder” proceeds from the Dispensary Defendants’ illegal sales
so that those proceeds can be kept as Dispensary Defendants’ illegal profits and/or used to pay the
Landlord Defendants, Advertising Defendants, and/or Law-Enforcement Defendants; (v) the
Manufacturing Defendants sell their products to one or more of the Dispensary Defendants for resale
to consumers, the proceeds from which are used to pay the Landlord Defendants, Advertising
Defendants, Money-Laundering Defendants, and/or Law-Enforcement Defendants and the remainder
of which are kept as the Dispensary Defendants’ illegal profits; and (vi) the Law-Enforcement
Defendants knowingly and continuously receive kickbacks and/or other valuable consideration from
the Dispensary Defendants and/or Landlord Defendants in exchange for giving the Dispensary
Defendants, Landlord Defendants, and/or Advertiser Defendants advance notice of or de-facto immunity
to raids, search-warrant executions, and other law-enforcement activities that could expose them to
arrest or disruption of their illegal business activities and thereby adversely affect the profits they make
from those activities. Each of the foregoing activities continues to this day; alternatively, one or more
of the activities recently ended without notice to PLAINTIFF.

B. The Dispensary Defendants, the Landlord Defendants, the Advertiser Defendants,
the Money-Laundering Defendants, the Manufacturing Defendants, and the Law-Enforcement
Defendants all need (and in the past needed) each other in order to maximize their long-term profits,
and their illegal enterprise would not last long without even one of the four sectors being actively and
continuously engaged in the enterprise. Their arrangement is a classic example of, figuratively

speaking, everyone scratching everyone else’s back. By way of example and not limitation:
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1. The Dispensary Defendants would be unable to engage in illegal sales and
profit thereby if it were not for the fact that the Landlord Defendants were and are ready, willing, and
able to provide, and do provide, the Dispensary Defendants with premises where the illegal sales take
place (so that customers who prefer to buy cannabis-related products from a brick-and-mortar facility
can do so0); the Advertiser Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to publish, and do publish,
the Dispensary Defendants’ advertisements and without the requisite license number from the CBCC
(so that customers looking for cannabis-related products can find the Dispensary Defendants’
operations); the Money-Laundering Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to launder, and
do launder, the cash proceeds from the Dispensary Defendants’ illegal sales through bank accounts
controlled by legitimate businesses, with the proceeds funneled back to the Dispensary Defendants as
ostensibly lawful revenues; the Manufacturing Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to
provide, and did and/or do provide, the Dispensary Defendants with consumable cannabis products that
(because of their inferior ingredients) are highly profitable; and the Law-Enforcement Defendants were
and are ready, willing, and able to provide, and did and/or do provide, the Dispensary Defendants and
their illegal operations with protection from proper law-enforcement activities (so that the Dispensary
Defendants do not end up in jail).

ii. The Landlord Defendants would be unable to charge exorbitant rents if
it were not for the fact that the Dispensary Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to pay, and
do pay, those exorbitant rents (since the Dispensary Defendants’ profit margins are substantially higher
than those of licensed businesses); the Advertiser Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to
publish, and do publish, the Dispensary Defendants’ illegal advertisements that law-biding
advertisement publishers will not publish (making sure that the Dispensary Defendants have a steady
stream of business); the Money-Laundering Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to launder,
and do launder, the cash proceeds from the Dispensary Defendants’ illegal sales through bank accounts
controlled by legitimate businesses, with the proceeds funneled back to the Landlord Defendants as
ostensibly lawful rent payments; the Manufacturing Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able
to provide, and did and/or do provide, the Dispensary Defendants with consumable cannabis products

that (because of their inferior ingredients) are highly profitable and generate monies used to pay the
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Landlord Defendants; and the Law-Enforcement Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to
provide, and did and/or do provide, the Dispensary Defendants and their illegal operations with
protection from proper law-enforcement activities (so that the Dispensary Defendants can pay their rent
rather than having to pay criminal-defense lawyers and fines and/or end up in jail).

iii. The Advertiser Defendants would be unable to charge a premium for
advertising space if it were not for the fact that the Dispensary Defendants were and are ready, willing,
and able to pay, and do pay, a premium for the dissemination of advertisements that law-biding
publishers will not disseminate (making sure that the Dispensary Defendants have a steady stream of
business); the Landlord Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to provide, and do provide,
the Dispensary Defendants with premises where the illegal sales take place (so that customers who
prefer to buy cannabis-related products from a brick-and-mortar facility can do so); the Money-
Laundering Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to launder, and do launder, the cash
proceeds from the Dispensary Defendants’ illegal sales through bank accounts controlled by legitimate
businesses, with the proceeds funneled back to the Advertising Defendants as ostensibly lawful
advertising payments; the Manufacturing Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to provide,
and did and/or do provide, the Dispensary Defendants with consumable cannabis products that (because
of their inferior ingredients) are highly profitable and generate monies used to pay the Advertiser
Defendants; and the Law-Enforcement Defendants were and are ready, willing, and able to provide, and
did and/or